
 

54th Annual Report to the 
Secretary of State for International Development 
 
For the year ending 30 September 2013 



 



 

54th Annual Report to the 
Secretary of State for International Development 
 
For the year ending 30 September 2013 
 
Presented to Parliament pursuant to Paragraph 5 (2) of Schedule 2 of the International 
Development Act 2002 



 

© Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom (2013) 

The text of this document (this excludes, where present, the Royal Arms and all departmental and agency logos) may be 

reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing that it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading 

context. 

The material must be acknowledged as Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom copyright and 

the document title specified. Where third party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright 

holder must be sought. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to info@cscuk.org.uk 

This publication is available for download at www.official-documents.gov.uk 

This document is also available from our website at www.dfid.gov.uk/cscuk 



3 

 

Foreword 

Monitoring progress 

2012 awards 

2012 awards: nominations and selections 

2012 awards: participation by UK institutions 

2012 awards: participation by overseas institutions 

2012 awards: Scholars by country and field of study 

2012 awards: Fellows by country and field of study 

Awards held in 2012-2013: participation by UK institutions 

Awards held in 2012-2013: Scholars by country and field of study 

Academic qualifications awarded 

National nominating agencies 

Academic advisers 2012-2013 

Working with UK universities 

Governance statement 

Membership of the Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the UK 

Statement of income and expenditure 

Contents 

5 

6 

8 

10 

12 

15 

18 

20 

21 

24 

26 

30 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 



4 

 

The Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom (CSC) is responsible for managing Britain’s 

contribution to the Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship Plan (CSFP). 

The CSC supports over 800 scholarships and fellowships for postgraduate study and professional development each 

year. Awards are funded by the Department for International Development (for developing Commonwealth countries), 

and the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Scottish Government (for developed Commonwealth 

countries), in conjunction with UK universities. The CSC also nominates UK citizens for scholarships to study in other 

Commonwealth countries under the CSFP. 

The CSC makes available seven types of award: 

Commonwealth Scholarships for PhD research/Master’s study – available for postgraduate study at any UK 

university which has a funding agreement with the CSC. Candidates should apply in the first instance to the national 

nominating agency of their resident country. Additional nominations are sought each year from developing country 

universities and other sources. 

Commonwealth Shared Scholarships – for developing country students who would not otherwise be able to undertake 

Master’s-level study in the UK, jointly supported by UK universities. Individual universities are invited each year to bid for 

such awards, and candidates should apply directly to the institutions. 

Commonwealth Academic Fellowships – aimed at mid-career staff in developing country universities, providing for 

three months’ work at a UK institution. Nominations are invited directly from the universities and the countries 

concerned. 

Commonwealth Split-site Scholarships – to support PhD candidates to spend up to one year in the UK as part of their 

doctoral studies. Nominations for awards are accepted from national nominating agencies and developing country 

universities. 

Commonwealth Professional Fellowships – offering mid-career professionals from developing countries the 

opportunity to spend a period (typically three months) with a UK host organisation working in a relevant field. 

Applications are invited each year from UK organisations that wish to host such awards – these can be from any sector, 

although the recipients of awards must not hold a full-time academic position. 

Commonwealth Distance Learning Scholarships – enabling developing country students to study UK Master’s 

degree courses while living in their home countries. The scholarships are only available for specific courses selected by 

the CSC on the basis of their quality and relevance to development. UK universities are invited to register expressions of 

interest for the CSC to support their course(s) each year. 

The CSC was established by Act of Parliament in 1959, and is a non-departmental public body in its own right. The 

CSC’s Secretariat is provided by the Association of Commonwealth Universities; overseas services are provided by the 

British Council. 

The CSC is part of a larger Commonwealth-wide scheme: the Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship Plan (CSFP). 

The CSFP is an international programme under which member governments offer scholarships and fellowships to 

citizens of other Commonwealth countries. It was established at the first Commonwealth education conference in 1959 

and is reviewed by Commonwealth education ministers at their triennial meetings. The CSFP has enabled almost 30,000 

individuals to study in over 20 countries across the Commonwealth. 

Full information on the scholarships and fellowships administered by the CSC, including application procedures and 

eligibility requirements, is available at www.dfid.gov.uk/cscuk 
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Foreword 

We have the honour to submit, pursuant to Schedule 2, Section 13, Clause (5) 2 of the International Development Act 2002, the 

following report of the Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom for the year ending 30 September 2013. 

In a period of austerity, public expenditure of any description is subject to increased scrutiny. The provision of 

international scholarships is no exception. In the past year, the work of the Commonwealth Scholarship Commission 

(CSC) has been subject to substantial review, both internally and externally. We are delighted to report that the results of 

this have been almost uniformly positive. 

In common with all non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs), the role of the CSC is routinely reviewed every three 

years. Our triennial review, conducted during the year under report, clearly confirmed the findings of the previous 

exercise, in 2010, that both the function and NDPB role remain appropriate. There have been positive comments from 

the two Parliamentary Select Committees that looked at our work, and it was also encouraging to see the increased 

profile given to Commonwealth Scholarships by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills in its international 

strategy, produced towards the end of the year. 

The comments of the Commons Science and Technology Committee, published in November 2012, gave most cause 

for satisfaction, because the Committee had actually taken the time to meet with a group of our students face-to-face. 

Their ultimate conclusion that ‘DFID’s support for individuals through the Commonwealth Scholarship Commission 

(CSC) has been hugely important’ reinforces our own experience that the best justification for our work remains the 

achievements of our highly intelligent, articulate, and ambitious award holders, focused on aiding the development of 

their own countries. 

The number of these award holders has risen since the last report. New awards have increased from 737 in 2011 to 853 

in 2012; the number of those on award from 1,386 to 1,495. This increase reflects a rise in our grant from the 

Department for International Development, and the continued support of the Department for Business, Innovation and 

Skills and the Scottish Government. We also benefit from the considerable work of nominating agencies in every 

Commonwealth country, some 200 academic advisers in the United Kingdom (all of whom provide their time for free), 

and UK universities, who provide significant fee reductions in support of our work. To all of these, we would like to 

express our grateful thanks. 

The increase in numbers of Commonwealth Scholars and Fellows also reflects streamlining on the part of the CSC itself. 

In April 2013, we introduced the biggest rationalisation of our administration for 50 years, bringing all our UK 

management under the heading of the Secretariat at the Association of Commonwealth Universities, whilst focusing the 

work of the British Council on our alumni and other activities overseas. As a result, the proportion of our funds devoted to 

administration has reduced to 7.7% in 2012-2013, from 9.4% in 2011-2012. In 2013-2014, when the full impact of the 

changes will be felt, we anticipate a further reduction. 

Our greatest satisfaction, however, remains the impact that our award holders and alumni have on their countries and the 

wider world. Our Evaluation Programme continues to provide evidence of this. During the report year, we published reports on 

impact in environmental sustainability and the impact of Master’s scholarships, and we are currently developing a long-term 

study matching successful and unsuccessful candidates to help assess the difference that Commonwealth Scholarships make. 

In the meantime, there is no shortage of individual success stories. Commonwealth Scholars continue to thrive in 

leadership roles across the world: examples include Mark Carney who, as Governor of the Bank of England, is the most 

high-profile recent central bank appointment among our alumni; and George Brandis, Attorney-General of Australia and 

the latest alumnus to reach a cabinet position. Equally important are those who report a major impact on development, 

such as Oluwatoyin Opawoye, Head of Health Programmes for the Leah Charity Foundation in Nigeria, which delivers 

essential health services to rural areas via mobile clinics; and Simon Daffi Kirway, whose work focuses on improving 

girls’ access to education in 44 secondary schools across Tanzania. These examples are the tip of a very big iceberg. 

To all of the above, together with our fellow Commissioners and staff in the Secretariat and the British Council, without 

whom Commonwealth Scholarships could not operate at their present level, we would like to extend our grateful thanks. 

Professor Tim Unwin 

Chair 

Dr John Kirkland 

Executive Secretary 
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Monitoring progress 

The CSC places great emphasis on monitoring and evaluation, as part of its responsibility to both funding bodies and 

award holders. This is reflected in the programmes and procedures established to assess both the progress of 

Commonwealth Scholars and Fellows and that of the scheme as a whole. 

Maintaining contact with award holders 

Each award holder is the responsibility of a named officer within the Secretariat (based at the Association of 

Commonwealth Universities) who, from the point of provisional selection, becomes the main point of contact for 

subsequent dealings with the CSC. 

Secretariat staff make contact with award holders shortly 

after arrival in the UK to check that all is well, and 

communicate with award holders at regular intervals 

throughout the year. In addition, Secretariat staff visit a 

number of institutions each year, meeting with award 

holders and their supervisors to listen to issues and provide 

information and advice. Access, as required, is provided by 

the Secretariat to specialist services for matters such as 

welfare and immigration. 

The British Council provides pre-departure support, 

including useful information for award holders to assist them 

in their preparations for, their journey to, and their stay in 

the UK. 

Approval was given during the report year to develop a 

more comprehensive student engagement strategy. Key 

features of this strategy include regular newsletters, a 

programme of events, and the Development Module, which 

is designed to improve the development impact of the 

scholarship programme and was piloted during the report 

year. 

Completion of courses 

The successful completion of qualifications is monitored 

closely by the CSC. For taught Master’s courses, the 

success rate is consistently over 90%, and the composite 

completion rate for those starting their awards during the 

five-year period 2006-2010 is 97%. For Commonwealth 

Shared Scholars, the composite rate for 2006-2010 is 

reported at 95%. 

Doctoral completion rates also continue to be high, with that 

for the most recent year analysed – PhDs started in 2007 – 

at 85%, and the composite completion rate figure for 2003-

2007 at 88%. The submission rate (those who submitted 

their thesis with four years of commencing their PhD) for 

Commonwealth Scholars commencing in 2007 is 69%. With 

some data from this cohort still to be reported, this figure is 

expected to rise; the submission rate excluding these 

outstanding results is 77%. 

Award holders’ views 

In 2013, 415 award holders returned the annual anonymous 

questionnaire. This questionnaire asks award holders to 

rate various aspects of their experience on a five-point 

scale, ranging from ‘excellent’ through to ‘very poor’, which 

enables us to compare responses from year to year. 

Respondents continue to rate the ACU’s overall 

Monitoring progress of award holders 

 If necessary, contact is made with the prospective 

supervisor at the time of arrival, pointing out special 

needs and problems that may be encountered. 

 Award holders and, for research degrees, 

supervisors are required to write a report at the end 

of their first term, enabling potential problems to be 

highlighted at an early stage. 

 Award holders and their supervisors/tutors are 

required to write a detailed report at the end of 

each year. 

 First term and annual reports are monitored for 

emerging issues – each annual report is read not 

only by Secretariat staff, but also by at least one 

member of the Commission. 

Evaluating the scheme and new programmes 

 The CSC Evaluation and Monitoring Programme is 

responsible for the acquisition and analysis of data 

relating to the outcomes and impact of the CSC’s 

scholarship and fellowship schemes. During this 

report year, new tools, methods and processes 

were introduced, including a counterfactual study, 

the distribution of an improved alumni evaluation 

survey, and engagement with other stakeholders, 

such as host organisations. As well as an externally

-commissioned report looking at how value for 

money might be measured, two evaluation reports 

were completed. The first covered impact in 

environmental sustainability, and the second 

examined the impact of the three types of awards 

offered for Master’s study. A third report, on the 

Professional Fellowships scheme, was near 

completion at the end of the report year. 

 Host institutions are systematically surveyed each 

year to obtain information on progress, 

qualifications gained, submission dates, and, where 

studies are still in progress, likely dates of 

completion (see ‘Completion of courses’ on right). 

The Secretariat compares performance by gender 

and subject and across institutions. 

 Each year, the Secretariat administers an 

anonymous survey of award holders, enquiring 

about their experiences of studying and living in the 

UK and the administration of the scheme. These 

responses are analysed for review by the CSC (see 

‘Award holders’ views’ on right). 

 Feedback is sought from delegates at the CSC’s 

Welcome Programme and other student events. 
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administration of the scheme highly, with 92% rating it as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’. New award holders  were asked to rate 

the ACU’s administration of their selection and placement at a UK institution; 91% rated it as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’ (see 

Table 1). 

Regarding respondents’ institutions of study, ‘excellent’ or ‘good’ ratings for supervision/teaching, facilities and 

resources, and the overall academic experience were all at least 90%. The combined ‘excellent’ and ‘good’ rating for 

institutions’ provision of welfare advice has continued to increase, and this year sees the highest rating in recent years at 

77% (see Table 2). 

In addition to this quantitative data, the anonymous questionnaire also gives award holders the opportunity to comment 

at greater length on their award and their experience in the UK. Positive aspects of respondents’ time on award included 

good relationships with supervisors and fellow students/colleagues, access to facilities and resources not available 

elsewhere, the opportunities to develop skills and networks, and the contribution they make to their field of research. In 

addition to these academic matters, respondents valued the opportunity to experience not only British culture, but also a 

diverse and multicultural environment where they could gain different perspectives on life and work. There was 

appreciation for transport and health systems and reliable internet access. However, some reported experiencing 

problems with homesickness and adjusting to aspects of life in the UK such as the weather and culture. The cost of 

living and the struggle to find suitable and affordable accommodation were mentioned, as well as the pressures involved 

in completing work within the award tenure. Regarding how their experiences could have been improved, respondents 

typically mentioned more time on award, increased stipend and resources, more specific advance information about the 

area of the UK in which they will be 

residing and working, and more 

opportunities to meet other award 

holders. 

Following the established schedule for 

review, an independent review of cross-

government scholarship provision will 

take place in late 2013/early 2014. 

Regarding feedback on current stipend 

rates, in additional questions not shown 

in Tables 1 and 2, 77% of respondents 

felt that the stipend was at least ‘fairly 

adequate’. Stipend rates tend to be an 

area of concern for questionnaire 

respondents, but levels of satisfaction 

have gradually risen over recent years; 

75% described their allowances as at 

least ‘fairly adequate’ in 2012, compared 

with 76% in 2011, 73% in 2010, 68% in 

2009, and 65% in 2008. In the 

accompanying comments, some 

respondents described being able to 

manage adequately, but that additional 

and unforeseen costs could be a 

problem. Some respondents were living 

in more expensive areas or had difficulty 

securing affordable accommodation, and 

those with families also found it harder to 

manage. 

Despite these concerns, out of those 

award holders nearing the end of their 

award, 92% (of the 268 responding to 

this particular question) felt that their 

academic programme had ‘completely’ 

or ‘mostly’ fulfilled the purpose for which 

they came to the UK. 

Table 1: 2013 anonymous questionnaire – ratings (%)  
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Selection and placement procedures 53 38 7 2 <1 278 

ACU’s administration overall 57 35 7 <1 <1 405 

Standard of supervision/teaching 58 33 6 2 0 413 

Access to library 68 27 4 1 0 408 

Access to computing facilities 64 29 5 2 0 408 

Access to laboratories 46 46 6 1 0 208 

Academic facilities overall 54 42 4 <1 0 413 

Course of study overall 48 42 8 1 1 413 

Academic experience overall 53 42 5 1 <1 411 

Institutions' provision of welfare advice 24 52 18 4 1 402 

Overall experience of living in the UK 39 52 9 1 0 411 

 

Table 2: 2008-2013 anonymous questionnaires – combined ratings for 
'excellent' and 'good' (%)  

   2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Selection and placement procedures  90 92 93 89 91 

ACU’s administration overall  92 95 94 93 92 

Standard of supervision/teaching  87 90 91 87 92 

Access to library  95 92 92 94 95 

Access to computing facilities  91 92 89 92 93 

Access to laboratories  89 91 88 87 92 

Academic facilities overall  93 93 95 94 95 

Course of study overall  85 86 91 88 90 

Academic experience overall  92 91 93 93 94 

Institutions' provision of welfare advice  72 74 73 75 77 

87 91 91 92 91 Overall experience of living in the UK  
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2012 awards 

In addition to the sections of this report that present the total numbers of awards held in 2012-2013, we also present 

numbers of new awards taken up in 2012-2013 (referred to as ‘New awards 2012’). During the report year, a number of 

meetings took place to select the 2013 intake; these will be reported as new awards for 2013 in the next Annual Report 

for the year ending 30 September 2014. 

1,495 awards were held in the 2012-2013 report year. 853 of these were new 2012 awards taken up, representing the 

intake for the second year of the 2011-2015 funding period. A breakdown of these new and on award figures can be 

seen in Tables 3, 4 and 5. 

For this round of selections, a higher number of invitations to nominate were issued, reflecting the increased budget 

available. 907 nominations were received for DFID-funded awards (excluding Distance Learning Scholarships and 

Shared Scholarships), which is a considerable increase compared with previous years – 763 were received in 2011, and 

832 in 2010. From these 907 nominations, 522 selections were made (excluding Distance Learning and Shared 

Scholarships), again a higher number than previous years – 421 in 2011 and 414 in 2010. The proportion of selections 

from eligible nominations this year is 58%. Increased numbers of awards taken up in 2012 compared with 2011 can be 

seen in Table 5. 

UK universities directly recruit and select 

Shared Scholarship and Distance Learning 

Scholarship candidates, whose awards are 

confirmed by the CSC’s selection 

committees. For Shared Scholarships, 

universities approved applications from 323 

candidates and the CSC selected 215 

candidates for a take-up of 188 awards (in 

the previous year, applications from 285 

candidates were approved and 182 were 

selected for a take-up of 158 awards). For 

Distance Learning Scholarships, universities 

approved 346 applications and the CSC 

made 236 selections (equivalent figures in 

the previous year are 281 applications and 

213 selections). Both these schemes also 

had increased numbers of selections this 

year. 

There were also 11 selections for awards for 

doctoral study funded by BIS and the 

Scottish Government, out of 67 nominations. 

9 candidates took up awards, and a similar-

sized programme will run in 2013. Funding 

for this scheme is available until 2015. 

It should be emphasised that, before 

nomination to the CSC, most candidates 

have undergone a highly competitive 

selection process in their own country.  

Region 

46 countries were represented in the 2012 

intake for Commonwealth Scholarships and 

Fellowships (see pages 18-20). When 

selecting candidates, the CSC’s primary 

concern is that successful applicants should 

be of the highest calibre. As a result, the 

CSC does not operate specific quotas for 

individual Commonwealth countries. It does, 

however, have broad regional selection 

Table 3: 2012-2013 – on award 

Scheme Number of award holders 

Scholarships* 503 

Shared Scholarships 195 

Distance Learning Scholarships 606 

Academic Fellowships 75 

Professional Fellowships 116 

Total 1495 

* of which scholarships to university staff = 107 and Split-site Scholarships = 37 

 

Table 4: 2012-2013 awards by region* 

Region Awards held New awards 2012 

Sub-Saharan Africa 983 547 

South Asia 394 238 

Southeast Asia 15 7 

Australasia 11 3 

Pacific 9 6 

Caribbean 68 46 

North America 12 5 

Europe 3 1 

Total 1495 853 

* including Shared Scholarships  

 

Table 5: 2011 and 2012 new awards by type of study 

Type of study New awards 2011 New awards 2012 

PhD 104 104 

Split-site PhD 26 34 

Master’s 92 119 

Master’s (Shared Scholarships) 158 188 

Master’s (Distance Learning) 201 217 

Academic Fellowships 53 75 

Professional Fellowships 103 116 

Total 737 853 



9 

 

targets for those scholarship candidates funded by DFID. For the 2012 intake, targets were broadly met, as can be seen 

from Table 6, with sub-Saharan Africa taking 54% of the awards, South Asia 34%, and the remaining small states 

(encompassing the Pacific, Caribbean and Southeast Asia) 12%. 

Level of study 

The CSC continues to aim for a target of 60:40 for taught and research provision for DFID-funded scholarships 

nominated by national nominating agencies, in order to reflect the increased number of highly relevant and targeted 

Masters’ degrees available, and also to deal with the increasing cost of doctoral scholarships. 65% of selections for 2012 

DFID-funded scholarships were for Master’s programmes and 35% for doctoral study. Doctoral-level scholarships 

remain a significant part of the CSC’s portfolio of awards, both in traditional and split-site modes, and it is committed to 

offering these for the foreseeable future. In addition to the DFID-funded scholarships already mentioned and Split-site 

Scholarships for doctoral study, 78% of scholarships awarded to university staff in developing countries in this report 

year were for doctoral study. 

Gender 

This year, the CSC continued to focus on encouraging the participation of women in all its programmes. While positive 

discrimination is not a factor in selection, the importance of a fair gender balance is highlighted to nominating agencies. 

In 2012, 40% of nominations received for all DFID-funded scholarships (including Distance Learning Scholarships and 

Shared Scholarships) were female candidates. 46% of selected candidates were female. 

The proportions of women nominated and 

selected for Academic Fellowships are 

typically lower, and in 2012 26% of 

nominations and 31% of selections were 

female candidates. For 2012 Professional 

Fellowships, the proportions increased; 

women comprised 43% of nominated 

candidates and 41% of selected candidates. 

During the report year, the CSC decided to 

invite nominations for 2013 awards from 

women’s universities in South Asia and from 

the Forum for African Women Educationalists, 

to increase the number of female nominations. 

In terms of support on award, provision is 

made for award holders on longer awards 

who are accompanied by their families. 

The CSFP 

As part of the UK’s contribution to the 

Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship 

Plan (CSFP), the CSC also nominates UK 

candidates for Commonwealth Scholarships 

offered by other Commonwealth countries. In 

2012-2013, a total of 12 award holders from 

the UK were funded for Master’s study in 

India, doctoral study in New Zealand, and 

postdoctoral study in Canada, in subjects 

including Mathematics, Theology, Indian 

Philosophy and Religion, Criminology, 

Glaciology, and Oceanography and Marine 

Biology. 

Table 6: 2012 selections – DFID-funded scholarships by region* 

Region Target % Actual % 

Sub-Saharan Africa 50 54 

South Asia 35 34 

Small/Other states 15 12 

* including scholarships for postgraduate study, scholarships to university staff, 
and Split-site Scholarships, but not Distance Learning Scholarships or Shared 
Scholarships 

 

Table 7: 2012 selections – scholarships by level  

Scheme Masters % Doctorate % 

BIS/SG-funded scholarships* 0 100 

DFID-funded scholarships** 65 35 

Total 62 38 

* offered for doctoral-level study only  

** excluding scholarships to university staff, Split-site Scholarships, Distance 
Learning Scholarships, and Shared Scholarships 

 

Table 8: 2012 nominations and selections – gender* 

Scheme 
Women as % of 

nominations 
Women as % of 

selections 

All DFID-funded scholarships** 40 46 

Academic Fellowships 26 31 

Professional Fellowships 43 41 

* excluding BIS-funded scholarships 

** including Distance Learning Scholarships and Shared Scholarships 

 

Table 9: 2012-2013 awards – UK Commonwealth Scholars 

Host countries On award  

Canada 3 

India 1 

New Zealand 8 
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2012 awards: nominations and selections 

 Nominations received Applications selected 

             
Region/Country CS CD CF CP SS Total CS CD CF CP SS Total 

           Sub-Saharan Africa 
Botswana 10 28 0 2 1 41 6 17 0 2 0 25 

Cameroon 15 3 1 6 2 27 7 2 1 3 1 14 

Ghana 26 13 3 6 87 135 9 7 2 5 56 79 

Kenya 23 56 4 19 26 128 10 40 2 17 19 88 

Lesotho 2 1 1 0 0 4 1 1 0 0 0 2 

Malawi 18 6 1 2 1 28 12 5 1 2 1 21 

Mauritius 4 0 0 0 2 6 3 0 0 0 2 5 

Mozambique 7 5 0 2 0 14 4 5 0 2 0 11 

Namibia 2 3 0 0 0 5 0 3 0 0 0 3 

Nigeria 55 22 6 29 54 166 24 15 5 20 37 101 

Rwanda 10 16 0 3 1 30 3 10 0 2 1 16 

Seychelles 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Sierra Leone 13 8 0 2 4 27 5 8 0 2 4 19 

South Africa 54 7 0 3 6 70 32 3 0 3 6 44 

St Helena 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Swaziland 5 0 1 1 1 8 4 0 1 0 1 6 

Tanzania 21 44 1 12 3 81 8 29 1 10 3 51 

The Gambia 10 1 0 1 0 12 4 1 0 1 0 6 

Uganda 30 45 1 26 25 127 20 29 1 23 15 88 

Zambia 26 12 2 4 1 45 17 8 1 2 0 28 

Zimbabwe* 0 0 0 5 4 9 0 0 0 3 1 4 

Subtotal 334 270 21 123 218 966 172 183 15 97 147 614 

 

South Asia             
Bangladesh 58 3 18 3 21 103 37 2 10 2 13 64 

India 72 45 77 16 32 242 32 30 30 11 20 123 

Maldives 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Pakistan 52 12 17 4 36 121 28 9 6 4 25 72 

Sri Lanka 18 2 20 3 3 46 10 2 17 2 2 33 

Subtotal 202 62 132 26 92 514 107 43 63 19 60 292 

 

Southeast Asia             
Malaysia 9 0 0 1 4 14 7 0 0 1 2 10 

Singapore** 7 0 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Subtotal 16 0 0 1 4 21 8 0 0 1 2 11 

 

Australasia             
Australia** 14 0 0 0 0 14 2 0 0 0 0 2 

New Zealand** 10 0 0 0 0 10 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Subtotal 24 0 0 0 0 24 4 0 0 0 0 4 
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Key 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study 

CD – Distance Learning Scholarships 

CF – Academic Fellowships 

CP – Professional Fellowships 

SS – Shared Scholarships 

 

* Awards offered to build the capacity of civil society organisations 

** Awards funded by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Scottish Government 

 Nominations received Applications selected 

   

Region/Country CS CD CF CP SS Total CS CD CF CP SS Total 

Pacific             
Papua New Guinea 1 4 0 0 0 5 0 3 0 0 0 3 

Samoa 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Solomon Islands 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 2 

Subtotal 3 4 0 0 1 8 2 3 0 0 1 6 

             

Caribbean             
Antigua and Barbuda 2 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Bahamas 3 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Barbados 3 1 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Belize 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Bermuda 2 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Dominica 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Grenada 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Guyana 2 2 1 4 1 10 2 2 1 4 0 9 

Jamaica 10 4 2 2 5 23 8 2 1 2 4 17 

Montserrat 1 0 0 1 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 1 

St Kitts and Nevis 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 

St Lucia 2 1 0 4 1 8 1 1 0 0 1 3 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 2 2 0 1 0 5 2 2 0 1 0 5 

Trinidad and Tobago 7 0 0 1 1 9 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Turks and Caicos Islands 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Subtotal 43 10 3 13 8 77 30 7 2 7 5 51 

             

North America             
Canada** 22 0 0 0 0 22 5 0 0 0 0 5 

Subtotal 22 0 0 0 0 22 5 0 0 0 0 5 

             

Europe             
Cyprus** 7 0 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Malta** 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Subtotal 11 0 0 0 0 11 1 0 0 0 0 1 

             

Total 655 346 156 163 323 1643 329 236 80 124 215 984 
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2012 awards: participation by UK institutions 

Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

Aberdeen Maternity Hospital 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Aberystwyth University 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Acid Survivors Trust International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Africa Foundation Stone 0 0 0 1 0 1 

African Medical and Research Foundation 0 0 0 3 0 3 

Anglican Alliance 0 0 0 4 0 4 

Aston University 2 0 1 0 3 6 

Bangor University 2 15 1 0 1 19 

Bournemouth University 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Brunel University 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Cardiff Metropolitan University 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Cardiff University 1 9 2 1 0 13 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – East Midlands 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – Greater London 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – West Midlands 0 0 0 1 0 1 

ChildHope UK 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Childreach International 0 0 0 6 0 6 

City University London 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Coleraine Borough Council 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Commonwealth Telecommunications Organisation 0 0 0 6 0 6 

Conciliation Resources 0 0 0 8 0 8 

Cranfield University 2 0 0 0 8 10 

De Montfort University 0 0 1 1 1 3 

Doncaster and Bassetlaw Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Durham University 3 0 1 0 3 7 

East London NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Environment Agency 0 0 0 6 0 6 

Garforth Academy 0 0 0 2 0 2 

George House Trust 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Glasgow Caledonian University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Henson Editorial Services and North Staffordshire Press Ltd 0 0 0 3 0 3 

Heriot-Watt University 4 0 0 0 1 5 

Hogan Lovells LLP 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Imperial College London 7 0 1 0 0 8 

Institute of Development Studies, Sussex 0 0 0 0 2 2 

John Innes Centre, Norwich 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Keele University 0 0 0 0 1 1 

King’s College Hospital 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Kingston University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Lancaster University 1 0 2 0 1 4 

Leeds General Infirmary 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Leeds Metropolitan University 0 0 0 0 8 8 

Liverpool Hope University 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Liverpool Mulago Partnership for Women’s and Children’s Health 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine 1 0 1 0 0 2 

London South Bank University 0 15 0 0 1 16 

Loughborough University 4 0 2 0 2 8 

Migrating out of Poverty Research Programme Consortium 0 0 0 2 0 2 

National Union of Teachers 0 0 0 1 0 1 

National Youth Agency 0 0 0 1 0 1 
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Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

Natural History Museum 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Newcastle University 5 0 1 2 4 12 

NHS Bristol 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Northumbria University 0 0 1 0 3 4 

Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Open University 0 30 0 0 0 30 

Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Partnerships in Health Information 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Plymouth University 1 0 1 0 0 2 

Queen Margaret University 1 0 1 0 2 4 

Queen’s University Belfast 2 0 0 0 2 4 

Robert Gordon University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Robert Jones and Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital, Oswestry 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Rothamsted Research (BBSRC) 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Roughton International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Royal Botanic Gardens 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Royal College of Art 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Sheffield Hallam University 1 0 0 0 3 4 

Sheffield Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 3 0 3 

St James’ University Hospital (Leeds) 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Swansea University 3 0 0 0 0 3 

TackleAfrica 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Teesside University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Terrence Higgins Trust 0 0 0 2 0 2 

The Haven Wolverhampton 0 0 0 8 0 8 

The Law Society 0 0 0 4 0 4 

The Leprosy Mission International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

The Meriden Family Programme 0 0 0 2 0 2 

University Hospital Aintree 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Aberdeen 4 0 2 1 0 7 

University of Bath 1 10 2 0 3 16 

University of Bedfordshire 0 0 0 0 1 1 

University of Birmingham 7 0 2 0 3 12 

University of Bradford 0 0 1 0 0 1 

University of Bristol 7 0 0 1 6 14 

University of Cambridge 11 0 1 0 22 34 

University of Dundee 0 0 1 0 1 2 

University of East Anglia 3 0 0 0 2 5 

University of East London 0 0 0 2 0 2 

University of Edinburgh 13 15 3 6 4 41 

University of Essex 3 0 0 0 0 3 

University of Exeter 1 0 2 0 3 6 

University of Glasgow 4 0 3 2 7 16 

University of Greenwich 2 0 0 0 7 9 

University of Hertfordshire 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Hull 0 0 1 0 4 5 

University of Kent 4 0 1 0 1 6 

University of Leeds 12 0 2 0 6 20 

University of Leicester 3 5 0 0 3 11 
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Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

University of Liverpool 3 16 3 6 3 31 

University of London       

Birkbeck, University of London 2 0 0 0 1 3 

Goldsmiths, University of London 1 0 0 0 1 2 

Institute of Education 2 15 0 0 2 19 

King’s College London 5 0 2 0 5 12 

London School of Economics and Political Science 2 0 0 0 5 7 

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine 8 16 0 0 4 28 

Queen Mary, University of London 5 0 0 0 0 5 

Royal Holloway, University of London 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Royal Veterinary College 1 10 3 0 2 16 

SOAS, University of London 2 15 0 0 2 19 

UCL Eastman Dental Institute 1 0 0 0 0 1 

UCL School of Pharmacy 2 0 1 0 0 3 

University College London 13 0 1 0 4 18 

University of Manchester 18 10 3 0 2 33 

University of Nottingham 7 0 4 0 8 19 

University of Oxford 13 5 1 0 3 22 

University of Portsmouth 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Reading 10 0 2 0 0 12 

University of Roehampton 0 0 0 5 0 5 

University of Salford 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Sheffield 3 0 0 0 1 4 

University of Southampton 4 10 2 0 3 19 

University of St Andrews 1 0 0 0 1 2 

University of Stirling 2 10 0 0 1 13 

University of Strathclyde 4 0 1 0 5 10 

University of Surrey 3 0 2 0 0 5 

University of Sussex 6 0 0 0 0 6 

University of the West of England 0 0 0 0 2 2 

University of the West of Scotland 0 0 1 0 2 3 

University of Wales, Newport 0 0 1 0 1 2 

University of Warwick 3 1 1 0 5 10 

University of Westminster 2 0 0 0 0 2 

University of Worcester 0 0 0 0 2 2 

University of York 4 10 1 0 0 15 

Widows and Orphans International 0 0 0 4 0 4 

Total 257 217 75 116 188 853 

Figures in this table refer to awards taken up in 2012-2013. 

 

Key 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study 

CD – Distance Learning Scholarships 

CF – Academic Fellowships 

CP – Professional Fellowships 

SS – Shared Scholarships 
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2012 awards: participation by overseas institutions 

Region/Country/Institution CS CD CF Total 

Sub-Saharan Africa     

Botswana     

Botho College 0 15 0 15 

Subtotal 0 15 0 15 

     

Cameroon     

University of Buea 0 0 1 1 

University of Dschang 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 1 0 1 2 

     

Ghana     

Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi 1 0 1 2 

University of Cape Coast 1 0 0 1 

University of Ghana 1 0 1 2 

Subtotal 3 0 2 5 

     

Kenya     

Egerton University 1 0 0 1 

Moi University 1 0 2 3 

Subtotal 2 0 2 4 

     

Malawi     

University of Malawi 4 0 1 5 

Subtotal 4 0 1 5 

     

Mauritius     

University of Mauritius 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 1 0 0 1 

     

Nigeria     

Ahmadu Bello University 1 0 0 1 

Federal University of Technology, Akure 1 0 0 1 

Michael Okpara University of Agriculture, Umudike 2 0 0 2 

Obafemi Awolowo University 0 0 3 3 

University of Agriculture, Abeokuta 1 0 0 1 

University of Calabar 0 0 1 1 

University of Ilorin 1 0 0 1 

University of Lagos 1 0 0 1 

University of Nigeria 1 0 1 2 

University of Uyo 2 0 0 2 

Subtotal 10 0 5 15 

     

South Africa     

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University 1 0 0 1 

University of Cape Town 1 0 0 1 

University of Pretoria 0 5 0 5 

University of Stellenbosch 2 0 0 2 

Subtotal 4 5 0 9 

     

Swaziland     

University of Swaziland 2 0 0 2 

Subtotal 2 0 0 2 
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Region/Country/Institution CS CD CF Total 

Tanzania     

Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences 1 0 0 1 

National Construction Council, Tanzania 0 10 0 10 

Sokoine University of Agriculture 0 4 0 4 

University of Dar es Salaam 1 0 1 2 

Subtotal 2 14 1 17 

     

Uganda     

Islamic University in Uganda 1 0 0 1 

Kulika Educational Trust 0 15 0 15 

Makerere University 2 30 0 32 

Mbarara University of Science and Technology 5 0 1 6 

Subtotal 8 45 1 54 

     

Zambia     

Copperbelt University 2 0 0 2 

University of Zambia 3 6 1 10 

Subtotal 5 6 1 12 

     

South Asia     

Bangladesh     

Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University 0 0 1 1 

Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology 0 0 1 1 

Chittagong Veterinary and Animal Science University 0 0 1 1 

Comilla University 1 0 0 1 

Hajee Mohammad Danesh University of Science and Technology 0 0 1 1 

Jagannath University 1 0 0 1 

Jahangirnagar University 0 0 1 1 

Khulna University 0 0 1 1 

Noakhali Science and Technology University 1 0 0 1 

Shahjalal University of Science and Technology 1 0 0 1 

University of Chittagong 0 0 1 1 

University of Dhaka 2 0 2 4 

University of Rajshahi 0 0 1 1 

Subtotal 6 0 10 16 

     

India     

All India Institute of Medical Sciences 0 0 2 2 

Bharathidasan University 0 0 1 1 

Birla Institute of Technology 1 0 0 1 

Central Institute of Mining and Fuel Research, Dhanbad 0 0 2 2 

Confederation of Indian Industry 0 1 0 1 

Gautam Buddh Technical University 0 0 1 1 

Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University 0 0 1 1 

Guru Gobin Singh Indrasprastha University 1 0 0 1 

Indian Agricultural Research Institute 0 0 1 1 

Indian Institute of Management, Indore 1 0 0 1 

Jawaharlal Nehru University 1 0 1 2 

Karunashraya Hospice 0 9 0 9 

Kurukshetra University 0 0 2 2 

Madurai-Kamaraj University 1 0 0 1 

Mahatma Gandhi University 0 0 1 1 

Manipur University 0 0 1 1 

National Chemical Laboratory, Pune 2 0 0 2 

National Research Centre on Plant Biotechnology 0 0 1 1 

NIIT University, Neemrana 0 0 1 1 

Rabindra Bharati University 0 0 1 1 

Ravenshaw University 0 0 1 1 



17 

 

Figures in this table refer to awards taken up in 2012-2013. 

 

Key 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study CD – Distance Learning Scholarships CF – Academic Fellowships 

Region/Country/Institution CS CD CF Total 

School of Planning and Architecture 0 0 1 1 

Sree Chitra Tirunal Institute for Medical Science and Technology 0 0 1 1 

Sri Venkateswara University 0 0 1 1 

Tata Institute of Social Sciences 1 0 0 1 

Tripura University 0 0 1 1 

University of Delhi 0 0 4 4 

University of Kerala 0 0 1 1 

Visweswariah Technological University 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 9 10 26 45 

     

Pakistan     

Aga Khan Foundation 0 15 0 15 

Bahauddin Zakariya University 0 0 1 1 

COMSATS Institute of Information Technology 1 0 0 1 

Gomal University 1 0 0 1 

Institute of Management Sciences, Peshawar 1 0 0 1 

Lahore College for Women 1 0 0 1 

Shifa College of Medicine 0 0 1 1 

University of Engineering and Technology, Peshawar 1 0 0 1 

University of Karachi 2 0 0 2 

University of Sargodha 0 0 2 2 

University of the Punjab, Lahore 0 0 1 1 

Subtotal 7 15 5 27 

     

Sri Lanka     

Open University of Sri Lanka 0 0 1 1 

Sabaragamuwa University of Sri Lanka 0 0 2 2 

University of Colombo, Sri Lanka 0 0 3 3 

University of Jaffna, Sri Lanka 1 0 1 2 

University of Moratuwa, Sri Lanka 0 0 1 1 

University of Peradeniya, Sri Lanka 0 0 6 6 

University of Ruhuna, Sri Lanka 0 0 2 2 

University of Sri Jayewardenepura, Sri Lanka 0 0 1 1 

Subtotal 1 0 17 18 

     

Southeast Asia     

Malaysia     

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 1 0 0 1 

     

Caribbean      

Barbados     

University of the West Indies, Cave Hill Campus 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 1 0 0 1 

     

Guyana     

University of Guyana 1 0 1 2 

Subtotal 1 0 1 2 

     

Jamaica     

University of the West Indies 0 0 1 1 

University of the West Indies, Mona Campus 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 1 0 1 2 

     

Total 69 110 74 253 
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2012 awards: Scholars by country and field of study 

Region/Country 
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Sub-Saharan Africa         

Botswana 1 0 2 1 3 16 0 23 

Cameroon 1 0 5 0 1 2 0 9 

Ghana 3 1 10 13 31 2 0 60 

Kenya 2 1 8 9 41 2 0 63 

Lesotho 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Malawi 1 2 6 3 6 0 0 18 

Mauritius 0 1 0 0 3 1 0 5 

Mozambique 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Namibia 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 

Nigeria 2 2 17 16 13 14 2 66 

Rwanda 0 0 0 0 10 1 0 11 

Seychelles 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Sierra Leone 1 0 0 0 12 3 0 16 

South Africa 0 4 5 3 14 1 0 27 

St Helena 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Swaziland 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 4 

Tanzania 0 0 11 1 8 13 4 37 

The Gambia 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 5 

Uganda 3 1 8 7 34 7 0 60 

Zambia 3 0 0 3 8 4 7 25 

Zimbabwe* 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 19 12 75 61 191 67 14 439 

         

South Asia         

Bangladesh 0 4 1 17 13 4 0 39 

India 1 2 27 6 23 9 1 69 

Pakistan 0 1 6 9 12 18 0 46 

Sri Lanka 1 0 1 5 1 0 1 9 

Subtotal 2 7 35 37 49 31 2 163 

         

Southeast Asia         

Malaysia 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 6 

Subtotal 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 6 

         

Australasia         

Australia** 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 

New Zealand** 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Subtotal 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 3 
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Pacific         

Papua New Guinea 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 

Samoa 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Solomon Islands 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Subtotal 1 0 0 0 5 0 0 6 

         

Caribbean         

Antigua and Barbuda 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Barbados 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Belize 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Bermuda 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Dominica 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Grenada 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 4 

Guyana 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 4 

Jamaica 1 0 1 4 7 1 0 14 

Montserrat 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

St Kitts and Nevis 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

St Lucia 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 3 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 

Trinidad and Tobago 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 3 

Subtotal 4 0 7 6 20 2 0 39 

         

North America         

Canada** 0 1 1 0 3 0 0 5 

Subtotal 0 1 1 0 3 0 0 5 

         

Europe         

Cyprus** 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

         

Total 26 21 120 106 270 103 16 662 

Figures in this table refer to awards taken up in 2012-2013. 

  

Includes: 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study 

CD – Distance Learning Scholarships 

SS – Shared Scholarships 

 

* Award not made via national nominating agency (government) route 

** Awards funded by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Scottish Government 
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2012 awards: Fellows by country and field of study 

  Academic Fellows Professional Fellows  

Region/Country 
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Sub-Saharan Africa                  

Botswana 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 2 

Cameroon 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 4 

Ghana 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 0 2 5 7 

Kenya 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 2 4 0 0 2 2 1 8 17 19 

Malawi 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 3 

Mozambique 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 2 

Nigeria 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 5 0 0 3 0 0 5 12 20 25 

Rwanda 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 

Sierra Leone 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 

South Africa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 3 3 

Swaziland 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Tanzania 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 3 4 9 10 

The Gambia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Uganda 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 2 17 22 23 

Zambia 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 

Zimbabwe* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 

Subtotal 0 1 1 5 3 4 1 15 6 3 7 5 6 18 48 93 108 

                  

South Asia                  

Bangladesh 1 0 0 6 1 2 0 10 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 12 

India 1 2 4 12 4 2 1 26 0 0 3 0 0 5 2 10 36 

Pakistan 0 1 1 2 0 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 3 8 

Sri Lanka 2 1 0 10 3 0 1 17 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 19 

Subtotal 4 4 5 30 8 5 2 58 0 0 5 1 0 8 3 17 75 

                  

Southeast Asia                  

Malaysia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 

Subtotal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 

                  

Caribbean                  

Guyana 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 3 

Jamaica 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 3 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Subtotal 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 1 1 2 0 1 5 7 

                  

Total 4 5 6 35 13 9 3 75 6 3 13 7 8 27 52 116 191 

Figures in this table refer to awards taken up in 2012-2013, and are the same as those for fellowship awards held in 2012-2013, so no 

separate table is required. 

 

* Awards offered to build the capacity of civil society organisations 
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Awards held in 2012-2013: participation by UK institutions 

Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

Aberdeen Maternity Hospital 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Aberystwyth University 2 6 0 0 1 9 

Acid Survivors Trust International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Africa Foundation Stone 0 0 0 1 0 1 

African Medical and Research Foundation 0 0 0 3 0 3 

Anglican Alliance 0 0 0 4 0 4 

Aston University 2 1 1 0 3 7 

Bangor University 3 27 1 0 1 32 

Bournemouth University 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Brunel University 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Cardiff Metropolitan University 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Cardiff University 4 38 2 1 0 45 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – East Midlands 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – Greater London 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Chartered Institute of Environmental Health – West Midlands 0 0 0 1 0 1 

ChildHope UK 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Childreach International 0 0 0 6 0 6 

City University London 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Coleraine Borough Council 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Commonwealth Telecommunications Organisation 0 0 0 6 0 6 

Conciliation Resources 0 0 0 8 0 8 

Cranfield University 6 0 0 0 8 14 

De Montfort University 0 0 1 1 1 3 

Doncaster and Bassetlaw NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Durham University 11 0 1 0 3 15 

East London NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Environment Agency 0 0 0 6 0 6 

Garforth Academy 0 0 0 2 0 2 

George House Trust 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Glasgow Caledonian University 1 0 0 0 1 2 

Harper Adams University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Henson Editorial Services and North Staffordshire Press Ltd 0 0 0 3 0 3 

Heriot-Watt University 4 0 0 0 1 5 

Hogan Lovells LLP 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Imperial College London 15 0 1 0 0 16 

Institute of Development Studies, Sussex 0 0 0 0 2 2 

John Innes Centre, Norwich 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Keele University 1 0 0 0 1 2 

King’s College Hospital 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Kingston University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Lancaster University 2 0 2 0 1 5 

Leeds General Infirmary 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Leeds Metropolitan University 0 47 0 0 8 55 

Liverpool Hope University 0 0 0 0 2 2 

Liverpool John Moores University 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Liverpool Mulago Partnership for Women’s and Children’s Health 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine 3 0 1 0 0 4 

London South Bank University 0 50 0 0 1 51 

Loughborough University 6 25 2 0 2 35 

Migrating out of Poverty Research Programme Consortium 0 0 0 2 0 2 

National Union of Teachers 0 0 0 1 0 1 

National Youth Agency 0 0 0 1 0 1 
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Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

Natural History Museum 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Newcastle University 11 0 1 2 4 18 

NHS Bristol 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Northumbria University 0 0 1 0 3 4 

Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Open University 0 60 0 0 0 60 

Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Partnerships in Health Information 0 0 0 2 0 2 

Peninsula College of Medicine and Dentistry 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Plymouth University 1 0 1 0 0 2 

Queen Margaret University 1 0 1 0 2 4 

Queen’s University Belfast 4 0 0 0 2 6 

Robert Gordon University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Robert Jones and Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital, Oswestry 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Rothamsted Research (BBSRC) 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Roughton International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Royal Botanic Gardens 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Royal College of Art 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Sheffield Hallam University 2 0 0 0 4 6 

Sheffield Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 0 3 0 3 

St James’ University Hospital (Leeds) 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Staffordshire University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Swansea University 3 0 0 0 0 3 

TackleAfrica 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Teesside University 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Terrence Higgins Trust 0 0 0 2 0 2 

The Haven Wolverhampton 0 0 0 8 0 8 

The Law Society 0 0 0 4 0 4 

The Leprosy Mission International 0 0 0 1 0 1 

The Meriden Family Programme 0 0 0 2 0 2 

University Hospital Aintree 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Aberdeen 11 0 2 1 0 14 

University of Bath 3 20 2 0 3 28 

University of Bedfordshire 0 0 0 0 1 1 

University of Birmingham 11 0 2 0 3 16 

University of Bradford 1 0 1 0 0 2 

University of Brighton 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Bristol 12 0 0 1 6 19 

University of Buckingham 0 0 0 0 1 1 

University of Cambridge 21 0 1 0 22 44 

University of Chester 0 0 0 0 1 1 

University of Dundee 1 0 1 0 1 3 

University of East Anglia 5 0 0 0 2 7 

University of East London 1 0 0 2 0 3 

University of Edinburgh 18 30 3 6 4 61 

University of Essex 7 0 0 0 0 7 

University of Exeter 4 0 2 0 3 9 

University of Glasgow 8 0 3 2 7 20 

University of Greenwich 3 0 0 0 9 12 

University of Hertfordshire 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Hull 0 0 1 0 4 5 

University of Kent 7 0 1 0 1 9 

University of Leeds 22 0 2 0 6 30 

University of Leicester 7 20 0 0 3 30 

University of Liverpool 6 16 3 6 3 34 
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Institution CS CD CF CP SS Total 

University of London       

Birkbeck, University of London 4 0 0 0 1 5 

Goldsmiths, University of London 4 0 0 0 1 5 

Institute of Education 2 30 0 0 2 34 

King’s College London 9 0 2 0 5 16 

London School of Economics and Political Science 4 0 0 0 5 9 

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine 16 68 0 0 4 88 

Queen Mary, University of London 6 0 0 0 0 6 

Royal Holloway, University of London 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Royal Veterinary College 4 33 3 0 2 42 

SOAS, University of London 6 32 0 0 2 40 

UCL Eastman Dental Institute 1 0 0 0 0 1 

UCL School of Pharmacy 9 0 1 0 0 10 

University College London 24 0 1 0 4 29 

University of Manchester 24 15 3 0 2 44 

University of Northampton 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Nottingham 15 8 4 0 8 35 

University of Oxford 29 5 1 0 3 38 

University of Portsmouth 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Reading 18 0 2 0 0 20 

University of Roehampton 0 0 0 5 0 5 

University of Salford 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Sheffield 6 4 0 0 1 11 

University of Southampton 10 10 2 0 3 25 

University of St Andrews 4 0 0 0 1 5 

University of Stirling 6 29 0 0 1 36 

University of Strathclyde 6 0 1 0 5 12 

University of Surrey 3 0 2 0 0 5 

University of Sussex 19 0 0 0 0 19 

University of the West of England 0 0 0 0 2 2 

University of the West of Scotland 0 0 1 0 2 3 

University of Wales, Newport 0 0 1 0 1 2 

University of Warwick 8 1 1 0 5 15 

University of Westminster 3 0 0 0 0 3 

University of Wolverhampton 1 0 0 0 0 1 

University of Worcester 1 0 0 0 2 3 

University of York 7 31 1 0 0 39 

Widows and Orphans International 0 0 0 4 0 4 

Total 503 606 75 116 195 1495 

Key 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study 

CD – Distance Learning Scholarships 

CF – Academic Fellowships 

CP – Professional Fellowships 

SS – Shared Scholarships 
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Awards held in 2012-2013: 

Scholars by country and field of study 

Region/Country 
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Sub-Saharan Africa         

Botswana 2 0 2 2 4 16 0 26 

Cameroon 1 1 6 0 1 4 0 13 

Ghana 7 2 15 16 45 6 1 92 

Kenya 2 2 10 11 89 5 18 137 

Lesotho 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 4 

Malawi 3 4 12 4 16 1 0 40 

Mauritius 0 2 0 0 3 2 0 7 

Mozambique 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 4 

Namibia 1 0 0 1 4 0 0 6 

Nigeria 5 3 29 23 30 23 7 120 

Rwanda 0 0 0 0 14 1 0 15 

Seychelles 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Sierra Leone 1 0 5 2 24 4 0 36 

South Africa 0 9 11 6 22 2 0 50 

St Helena 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Swaziland 1 0 2 2 0 0 0 5 

Tanzania 0 0 26 2 12 17 4 61 

The Gambia 1 0 9 1 17 3 0 31 

Uganda 6 5 23 12 77 13 6 142 

Zambia 5 0 22 9 20 18 8 82 

Zimbabwe* 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 36 28 174 94 383 115 45 875 

         

South Asia         

Bangladesh 11 6 9 24 26 9 4 89 

India 4 5 62 15 43 16 1 146 

Maldives 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 

Pakistan 0 2 9 11 15 22 0 59 

Sri Lanka 2 2 1 7 3 1 7 23 

Subtotal 17 15 82 57 87 49 12 319 

         

Southeast Asia         

Malaysia 0 1 0 5 1 5 1 13 

Singapore** 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 0 1 0 5 2 5 1 14 

         

Australasia         

Australia** 0 0 2 1 3 0 0 6 

New Zealand** 0 1 2 0 2 0 0 5 

Subtotal 0 1 4 1 5 0 0 11 
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Pacific         

Papua New Guinea 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 5 

Samoa 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Solomon Islands 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Tonga 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 2 0 0 1 6 0 0 9 

         

Caribbean         

Antigua and Barbuda 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 

Barbados 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Belize 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Bermuda 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Dominica 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 4 

Falkland Islands 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Grenada 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 4 

Guyana 3 0 1 1 1 1 0 7 

Jamaica 1 2 1 4 10 1 1 20 

Montserrat 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 

St Kitts and Nevis 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 

St Lucia 0 0 2 0 3 2 0 7 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 

Trinidad and Tobago 0 0 2 1 3 0 0 6 

Subtotal 7 3 9 9 28 4 1 61 

         

North America         

Canada** 0 4 1 0 6 1 0 12 

Subtotal 0 4 1 0 6 1 0 12 

         

Europe         

Cyprus** 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Malta** 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Subtotal 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 

         

Total 62 52 270 167 520 174 59 1304 

Includes: 

CS – Scholarships for postgraduate study 

CD – Distance Learning Scholarships 

SS – Shared Scholarships 

 

* Award not made via national nominating agency (government) route 

** Awards funded by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Scottish Government 
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Academic qualifications awarded 

Commonwealth Scholars 

 Degree Subject 
Awarding 
institution 

Bangladesh       

Sangita AHMED PhD Pathology (Bacterial Virulence and Motility) Cambridge 

Mosabber Uddin AHMED PhD Data and Sensor Fusing Imperial 

Sunjukta AHSAN PhD Microbiology/Genetics Cambridge 

Farhan AZIM MA taught Educational Assessment Inst of Education 

Mohammed Abu EUSUF PhD Dynamics of Urban Poverty in Bangladesh Manchester 

Lutfun Nahar LATA MSc taught Sociological Research Manchester 

Md Mizanur RAHMAN PhD 
Urban Sanitation in Low-Income Communities of 
Dhaka City 

Durham 

Abu Ashfaqur SAJIB PhD Stem Cell Research Manchester 

Md Reduwan Billah SHAH PhD Colour Chemistry Heriot-Watt 

    

Cameroon       

Gabriel TALONG MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

    

Canada       

Adam Drew PERRY DPhil Law Oxford 

Todd D SCARTH PhD International Relations Sussex 

    

Ghana    

Evelyn Delali AHIALE PhD 
Government Policies and Agricultural Supply 
Responses 

Reading 

Hypolite BAYOR PhD Genetic and Morphological Variation of the Shea Tree Reading 

Emmanuel DUGAN PhD Soil Science Reading 

    

India    

Manjunatha Narayanappa 
BELAGANAHALLI 

PhD Molecular Biology Pirbright 

Jitendra Kumar BISWAL PhD Molecular Biology FMD Vaccine Study Pirbright 

Naveen Kumar DESIRAJU MSc taught Signal Processing and Machine Intelligence Surrey 

Shubham KANSAL MSc taught Advanced Solid State Chemistry and its Applications Sheffield 

Anupam PACHAURI PhD Education Sussex 

Swati PANDEY MSc taught Sustainable Energy Futures Imperial 

Keshav PARTHASARATHY MSc taught Economics LSE 

Prajakta Manohar PATIL MRes Science of Natural Hazards Bristol 

Santosh Kumar SINGH PhD Electronics Cambridge 

Deepanshu SRIVASTAVA MSc taught Advanced Engineering Materials Manchester 

Colin Harry VIEGAS MSc taught Communication Engineering Manchester 

    

Jamaica    

Taneisha Patricia BROWN LLM Law LSE 

Rohan Dayne HALL MSc taught Actuarial Science Heriot-Watt 

Nadine Nicole MUSCHETTE MA taught Development Education Inst of Education 

Andre Lloyd NELSON MSc taught Sustainable River Catchment Flood Management Heriot-Watt 

Academic qualifications notified to the CSC since publication of the last annual report. 
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Kenya    

Mary Nthangu CHIRONGA MSc taught Development and Security Bristol 

Jacinta V Syombua MUINDE MPhil taught Social Anthropology Cambridge 

Peninah Muthoni Njiraine NGODA PhD Food Science Queen's Belfast 

Kawa Koul TONG MPH Public Health Leeds 

Eugene Odhiambo WALUVENGO MSc taught Information Systems Surrey 

    

Malawi    

Janet Laura BANDA PhD Land Law London 

Bester Aubrey KASOWANJETE MSc taught Urban and Regional Planning Heriot-Watt 

Alice KONYANI CHIKAFA MSc taught Midwifery GCU 

Paul M O Kenala MAKOCHO PhD Science Education Leeds 

Ethel Umali ZILIRAKHASU MSc taught International Business Management with HRM Heriot-Watt 

    

Malaysia    

Manraj Singh CHEEMA PhD Molecular Toxicology Surrey 

    

Maldives    

Aishath RIZNA LLM Human Rights, Conflict and Justice London 

    

Mauritius    

Vinoba GUNGABISSOON PG Diploma Electronic Engineering Sheffield 

    

Namibia    

Jason Shilongo SHIKALEPO MSc taught Economics and Finance Bristol 

    

New Zealand    

Charlotte Maree GREENHALGH DPhil History Oxford 

    

Nigeria    

Oliver Okey Oji ENUOH PhD International Rural Development Reading 

Bernard Omodiagbon EROMOSELE MSc taught Reservoir Evaluation and Management Heriot-Watt 

Abayomi Samson FAPONLE MSc taught Biotechnology Manchester 

Bolaji Oladoyin OYEWOLE MSc taught Local Economic Development LSE 

Olumide Benedict TAIWO MSc taught 
Geoscience of Subsurface Exploration Appraisal 
and Development 

Heriot-Watt 

Eziuche Amadike UGBOGU MSc taught Food Science and Nutrition Heriot-Watt 

    

Pakistan    

Hassan Mazhar GOREJA MPhil taught Economics Cambridge 

Azka KHURSHID MSc taught Accounting and Finance LSE 

Waqas SAEED PG Cert Programme and Project Management Warwick 

Badar Bin SAQIB MSc taught Management and Strategy LSE 

    

Sierra Leone    

Alitta FORNA PG Diploma Development Studies Manchester 
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South Africa    

James Daniel DRAY DPhil African Politics Oxford 

Claire Susan FRANKLYN LLM Law LSE 

Nimi HOFFMANN MPhil taught Development Studies Oxford 

Lucille MAQUBELA PhD Sociology Warwick 

Candice Eleanor MOORE PhD International Relations London 

Timothy Thulisizwe PHAKATHI DPhil Social and Economic Development Policy Oxford 

Guy Jano TRANGOS MSc taught City Design and Social Science LSE 

Emma Rosemary WEBBER BCL Civil Law Oxford 

    

Sri Lanka    

Pradeep Prasanna PRASANNA 
HERATHGE 

PhD 
Use of Micronutrients to Extend Viability of 
Probiotic Yoghurt 

Reading 

    

Swaziland    

Sindisiwe Busisiwe MADUNA MSc taught Social Research GCU 

    

Tanzania    

Veronica Shittah MIRAMBO PhD Environmental Engineering Sheffield 

Dorothy Godfrey PHUMBWE PhD Educational Management and Planning Bristol 

    

Uganda    

Ciriako ACI MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

Edmund Rwigyi KIIZA MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

Pamela Charity KYOMUGISHA MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

Allan MUGISHA MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

Herman MUKISA MSc taught Petroleum Engineering Heriot-Watt 

    

Zambia    

Tabeth Lynn MASENGU LLM Law LSE 

Grace MUPWAYA MSc taught Actuarial Science Heriot-Watt 

Pamela Towela SAMBO PhD Environmental Law Manchester 

    

Commonwealth Split-site Scholars 

Degrees awarded by an overseas institution, with 12 months’ study at a UK institution 

 Degree Subject 
Awarding 
institution 

India    

Bashir AHMAD PhD Rock Mechanics Kashmir 

Jasbir Singh BEDI PhD Veterinary Public Health GADVASU 

Sonal SINGHAL PhD Nano Material Synthesis and Characterization IIT Roorkee 

    

Kenya    

Nicholas Kipkemboi ROP PhD Plant Pathology Moi 

    

Malaysia    

Mohammad-Fadil Bin ABDUL-WAHAB PhD Gas Engineering UTM 

    

Sri Lanka    

Prasad SENADHEERA PhD Plant Biotechnology Colombo 

    

Tanzania    

Geophrey Jasper KAJIRU PhD Soil Fertility SUA 
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Commonwealth Distance Learning Scholars 

Degrees awarded by a UK institution, in some cases with services provided by an overseas institution (in parentheses) 

 Degree Subject 
Awarding 

institution 

Ghana    

Anab CHRYSOGONUS MSc taught Managing Rural Development London 

Zakaria ISSAHAKU MSc taught Managing Rural Development London 

Yussif MOHAMMED MSc taught Managing Rural Development London 

    

India    

Safiya FATHIMA PG Cert Dementia Studies Stirling 

Prafulla SHIVAKUMAR Certificate Dementia Studies Stirling 

    

Kenya    

Donna Akoth KOPIYO MSc taught Information Technology Management Sunderland (JKUAT) 

Elijah Otieno ODUNDO MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

John Barasa WABWIRE PG Cert Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Malawi    

Lusungu DZINKAMBANI MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

Yohane George KAMGWIRA MSc taught Managing Rural Development London (Pretoria) 

Mahara Wanyamoyo Miston LONGWE MSc taught Managing Rural Development London (Pretoria) 

Chikondi Lydia MANYUNGWA MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

Gift THAKWALAKWA MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Mozambique    

Maria da Graca Namburete SAMO PG Cert Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Nigeria    

Ifeoma Lilian NWAKAMA MA taught Public Policy and Management York 

    

Sierra Leone    

Siafa MOMOH PG Cert Public Policy and Management York 

    

Swaziland    

Patience MAHLALELA MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Tanzania    

Elihuruma Wilson KIMARO MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

Majula Gamba Thobias MANYAMA MPA Public Administration Open 

Simon Sereni MROSSO MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Uganda    

Barbara KEBIRUNGI MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

Geoffrey Willy KIDEGA MSc taught Water and Waste Engineering Loughborough 

John Bosco KIMULI-SEMPALA MSc taught Water and Environmental Management Loughborough 

Pheona NAMUYABA MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

    

Zambia    

Choolwe Charles HAAMUKWANZA MSc taught Education for Sustainability LSBU 

Lawrence MWENGE MSc taught Public Health London 

Titus Mushingwa WALIMA MSc taught Managing Rural Development London (Pretoria) 



30 

 

Anguilla 

Permanent Secretary 

Department of Public Administration 

Government of Anguilla 

James Ronald Webster Building 

PO Box 60, The Valley 

AI 2640 

Anguilla 

www.gov.ai 

 

Antigua and Barbuda 

Director of Education 

Ministry of Education, Sports, Youth 

and Gender Affairs 

Government Complex  

Queen Elizabeth Highway 

St John’s 

Antigua and Barbuda  

www.education.gov.ag 

 

Australia 

Department of Education  

International Scholarships Section 

GPO Box 9839 

Canberra 

ACT 2601 

Australia 

www.education.gov.au 

 

Bahamas 

Administrator 

Scholarships and Educational Loan 

Division 

Ministry of Education, Science and 

Technology 

Thompson Boulevard 

PO Box N-3913/4 

Nassau 

Bahamas 

www.bahamaseducation.com 

 

Bangladesh 

Deputy Secretary (Scholarship) 

Ministry of Education 

Building No 6, 17th and 18th Floor 

Bangladesh Secretariat 

Dhaka 

Bangladesh 

www.moedu.gov.bd 

(for academic staff awards) 

Secretary 

University Grants Commission of 

Bangladesh 

Agargaon 

Dhaka 1207 

Bangladesh 

www.ugc.gov.bd 

 

Barbados 

AOII Tertiary  

Ministry of Education and Human 

Resource Development 

The Elsie Payne Complex 

Constitution Road 

St Michael 

Bridgetown 

Barbados 

www.mes.gov.bb 

 

Belize 

Chief Executive Officer 

Ministry of Public Service, Governance 

Improvement, Elections and 

Boundaries, and Sports 

Ground Floor, North Wing 

Sir Edney Cain Building 

City of Belmopan 

Belize 

www.mps.gov.bz 

 

Bermuda 

Commissioner of Education 

Ministry of Education 

14 Wallers Point Road 

St David's DD03 

Bermuda 

www.moed.bm 

 

Botswana 

Assistant Director 

Department of Tertiary Education 

Financing 

Ministry of Education and Skills 

Development 

Private Bag 0079 

Gaborone 

Botswana 

www.moe.gov.bw 

Brunei Darussalam 

Deputy Permanent Secretary (Core 

Education) 

Kementerian Pendidikan 

Ministry of Education  

Bandar Seri Begawan BB3510 

Negara 

Brunei Darussalam 

www.moe.edu.bn 

 

Cameroon 

Cameroon Commonwealth 

Scholarship Agency 

Ministry of Higher Education 

Department of Students’ Assistance 

and University Welfare 

PO Box 1457 

Yaoundé 

Cameroon 

www.minesup.gov.cm 

 

Canada 

Vice-President, Memberships and 

Scholarships  

Canadian Bureau for International 

Education 

220 Laurier Avenue West, Suite 1550 

Ottawa, Ontario 

K1P 5Z9 

Canada 

www.scholarships-bourses.gc.ca 

 

Cayman Islands 

Senior Education Officer 

Education Department 

PO Box 910 

George Town 

Grand Cayman 

Cayman Islands 

www.education.gov.ky 

 

Cyprus 

(for Greek Cypriots) 

Secretary 

Cyprus State Scholarship Foundation 

PO Box 23949 

1687 Nicosia 

Cyprus 

www.cyscholarships.gov.cy 

National nominating agencies 

Applications for Commonwealth Scholarships for PhD research and Master’s study and Commonwealth Academic 

Fellowships in the UK should be made in the first instance to the nominating agency in the candidate’s home country. 

These are listed below. Full details are available on the Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship Plan website at 

www.csfp-online.org 

Each agency is responsible for its own selection criteria. The CSC Secretariat in the UK is able to advise on which 

agency to approach in particular circumstances, but is not responsible for the decisions or procedures adopted by the 

agencies concerned. 
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(for Turkish Cypriots) 

Department of Common Services for 

Education 

Ministry of National Education, Youth 

and Sports 

Nicosia 

Cyprus  

www.mebnet.net 

 

Dominica 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Human 

Resource Development 

Government Headquarters 

Kennedy Avenue 

Roseau 

Dominica 

www.dominica.gov.dm 

 

Falkland Islands 

Director of Education 

c/o PA to Director of Education 

Secretariat 

Stanley 

FIQQ 1ZZ 

Falkland Islands 

www.falklands.gov.fk/education 

 

Ghana 

Registrar of Scholarships 

Scholarships Secretariat 

Accra 

Ghana 

www.ghana.gov.gh 

 

Gibraltar 

Education Adviser, Scholarships and 

Higher Education 

Department of Education and Training 

23 Queensway 

Gibraltar 

www.gibraltar.gov.gi/education-a-

training 

 

Grenada 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Human 

Resource Development 

Ministry of Education Building 

Botanical Gardens 

St George’s 

Grenada 

www.gov.gd 

 

Guyana 

Permanent Secretary 

Public Service Ministry 

164 Waterloo Street 

Cummingsburg 

Guyana 

www.gina.gov.gy 

India 

Deputy Educational Adviser 

Ministry of Human Resource 

Development 

Department of Higher Education 

A2/W-4 Curzon Road Barracks 

Kasturba Gandhi Marg 

New Delhi 110 001 

India  

www.education.nic.in 

 

(for academic staff awards) 

Joint Secretary 

University Grants Commission 

Bahadurshah Zafar Marg 

New Delhi 110 002 

India 

www.ugc.ac.in 

 

Jamaica 

Director, Scholarships and Training 

Assistance Unit 

1st Floor, Block G 

30 National Heroes Circle 

PO Box 512 

Kingston 4 

Jamaica 

www.mof.gov.jm/scholarships 

 

Kenya 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Higher Education, Science 

and Technology 

PO Box 9583-00200 

Nairobi 

Kenya 

www.scienceandtechnology.go.ke 

 

Kiribati 

Secretary 

Public Service Office 

PO Box 68 

Bairiki 

Tarawa 

Kiribati 

www.pso.gov.ki 

 

Lesotho 

Director 

National Manpower Development 

Secretariat 

PO Box 517 

Maseru 100 

Lesotho 

www.gov.ls 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Malawi 

Deputy Director 

Department of Human Resource 

Management and Development 

PO Box 30227 

Lilongwe 3 

Malawi 

www.malawi.gov.mw 

 

Malaysia 

Director 

Public Service Department Malaysia 

Human Capital Development Division 

Level 4-6, Block C1, Complex C 

Federal Government Administrative 

Centre 

62510 WP Putrajaya 

Malaysia 

www.jpa.gov.my 

 

Maldives 

Additional Secretary 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs 

Boduthakurufaanu Magu 

Henveiru 

Malé 20077 

Maldives 

www.foreign.gov.mv 

 

Malta 

Directorate for Lifelong Learning 

Ministry of Education and Employment  

Great Siege Road 

Floriana 

FRN 1820 

Malta 

www.myscholarship.gov.mt 

 

Mauritius 

Assistant Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Human 

Resources 

MITD House 

Pont Fer 

Phoenix 

Mauritius 

http://ministry-education.gov.mu 

 

Montserrat 

Chief Human Resources Officer 

Human Resources Management Unit 

Office of the Deputy Governor 

Brades 

Montserrat 

http://odg.gov.ms 
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Mozambique 

Tech. Ped. Instructor 

Instituto de Bolsas de Estudo 

Ministério da Educação e Cultura 

Avenida 24 de Julho, No 167 

PO Box 34 

Maputo 

Mozambique  

www.mec.gov.mz 

 

Namibia 

Permanent Secretary, Scholarships 

Namibia Student Financial Assistance 

Fund 

Ministry of Education 

Private Bag 13186 

Windhoek 

Namibia 

www.moe.gov.na 

 

Nauru 

Secretary 

Department of Education 

Nauru 

www.naurugov.nr 

 

New Zealand 

Scholarships Manager 

Universities New Zealand – Te Pōkai 

Tara 

PO Box 11915 

Wellington 6142 

New Zealand 

www.universitiesnz.ac.nz/

scholarships/postgraduate 

 

Nigeria 

Assistant Director 

Federal Scholarship Board 

Plot 245 Samuel Ademulegun Street 

Opposite Arewa Suite 

Central Business District 

Abuja 

Nigeria  

www.fsb.gov.ng 

 

Pakistan 

Deputy Educational Adviser 

Ministry of Inter Provincial 

Coordination 

Room No 3, 11th Floor 

Shaheed-e-Millat Secretariat 

Islamabad 

Pakistan  

www.ipc.gov.pk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(for academic staff awards) 

Project Manager (Commonwealth 

Scholarship Program) 

Human Resource Development 

Division 

Higher Education Commission 

Government of Pakistan 

Sector H-9 

Islamabad 

Pakistan 

www.hec.gov.pk 

 

Papua New Guinea 

Secretary 

Department of Personnel Management 

PO Box 519 

Waigani, 131, NCD 

Papua New Guinea 

www.dpm.gov.pg 

 

Rwanda 

Rwanda Education Board 

Remera/Kigali 

PO Box 3817 

Kigali 

Rwanda  

www.reb.rw 

 

Samoa 

Scholarship, Training and Bilateral 

Division  

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade 

PO Box L1859 

Apia 

Samoa 

www.mfat.gov.ws 

 

Seychelles 

Chief Executive Officer 

National Human Resources 

Development Council 

2nd Floor, Le Chantier Mall 

PO Box 407 

Seychelles 

www.nhrdc.sc 

 

Sierra Leone 

Chief Education Officer 

Ministry of Education, Science and 

Technology 

New England  

Freetown 

Sierra Leone 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Singapore 

Analyst (Learning and Development) 

Prime Minister’s Office 

Public Service Division 

100 High Street, #07-01 

The Treasury 

Singapore 179434 

www.psd.gov.sg 

 

Solomon Islands 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Human 

Resource Development 

PO Box G28 

Honiara 

Solomon Islands 

 

South Africa 

HESA Executive Office 

Higher Education South Africa (HESA) 

PO Box 27392 

Sunnyside  

Pretoria 0132 

South Africa 

http://hesa.org.za 

 

Sri Lanka 

Additional Secretary (Development) 

Ministry of Higher Education  

Higher Education Division 

No 18, Ward Place 

Colombo 7 

Sri Lanka 

www.mohe.gov.lk 

 

St Helena 

Chief Secretary 

Education and Employment 

Directorate 

Education Learning Centre 

STHL 1ZZ 

St Helena  

www.education.gov.sh 

 

St Kitts and Nevis 

Chief Personnel Officer 

Human Resource Management 

Department 

Government Headquarters  

Church Street 

Basseterre 

St Kitts and Nevis 

www.gov.kn 
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St Lucia 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education, Human 

Resource Development and Labour 

4th Floor, Francis Compton Building 

Waterfront 

Castries 

St Lucia 

www.education.gov.lc 

 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 

Chief Personnel Officer 

Service Commissions Department 

2nd Floor, Ministerial Building 

Halifax Street 

Kingstown 

St Vincent and The Grenadines 

www.gov.vc 

 

Swaziland 

Ministry of Public Service and 

Information 

PO Box 170 

Mbabane 

Swaziland 

www.gov.sz 

 

Tanzania 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Vocational 

Training 

PO Box 9121 

Dar es Salaam 

Tanzania 

www.moe.go.tz 

 

The Gambia 

Secretary 

Scholarship Advisory Board 

Department of State for Higher 

Education, Research, Science and 

Technology 

GRTS Building, MDI Road 

Kanifing 

The Gambia 

www.moherst.gov.gm 

 

Tonga 

Scholarships Unit 

Ministry of Education and Training 

PO Box 61 

Nuku’alofa 

Tonga  

www.tongaeducation.gov.to 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trinidad and Tobago 

Ministry of Public Administration 

5th Floor NALIS Building 

National Library Building 

Corner Hart and Abercromby Streets 

Port of Spain 

Trinidad and Tobago  

www.scholarships.gov.tt 

 

Turks and Caicos Islands 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education, Youth, Sports 

and Culture  

Government Square 

Pond Street 

Grand Turk 

Turks and Caicos Islands  

www.gov.tc 

 

Tuvalu 

Secretary, Personnel and Training 

Department 

Government of Tuvalu 

Office of the Prime Minister 

Personnel and Training Division 

Private Mail Bag, Vaiaku 

Funafuti 

Tuvalu 

 

Uganda 

Director H/TVET 

Ministry of Education and Sports 

Embassy House 

PO Box 7063 

Kampala 

Uganda  

www.education.go.ug 

 

United Kingdom 

Executive Secretary 

Commonwealth Scholarship 

Commission in the United Kingdom 

Woburn House 

20-24 Tavistock Square 

London WC1H 9HF 

United Kingdom 

www.dfid.gov.uk/cscuk 

 

Vanuatu 

Senior Scholarships Officer 

Training and Scholarships 

Coordination Unit (TSCU) 

Ministry of Education 

Private Mailbag 9059 

Port Vila 

Vanuatu 

www.governmentofvanuatu.gov.vu 

 

 

 

 

Virgin Islands (British) 

Permanent Secretary 

Ministry of Education and Culture 

BVI Government 

Central Administration Complex 

Road Town 

Tortola 

Virgin Islands (British) 

www.bvi.gov.vg 

 

Zambia 

Secretary 

Bursaries Committee 

Ministry of Education, Science, 

Vocational Training and Early 

Education  

PO Box 50093 

Lusaka 

Zambia 

www.mstvt.gov.zm  
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Academic advisers 2012-2013 

The CSC’s panel of academic advisers includes leading figures in all subject areas, all of whom provide their services 

free of charge. Without their expert and timely help, the CSC could not operate. Their contribution is much appreciated.  

Dr Bode Akinwande 

Professor Tom Allen 

Dr Penelope Allison 

Professor Claire Anderson 

Professor David Anderson 

Professor Jane Apperley 

Professor Peter Atkins 

Professor David Attwell 

Professor Peter Austin 

Professor Adisa Azapagic 

Professor Augusto Azuara-

Blanco 

Professor Nick Bacon 

Professor AbuBakr Bahaj 

Professor Alan Bairner 

Dr Owolabi Bakre 

Professor David Baldwin 

Professor Karin Barber 

Dr Crispin Bates 

Dr Chaloka Beyani 

Professor Chetan Bhatt 

Professor Dinesh K Bhugra 

Professor Richard Black 

Professor John R Blake 

Professor Liz Bondi 

Professor Richard Boon 

Professor Jan Bradley 

Mr Simon Bramhall 

Professor Charlotte Brewer 

Professor John Brookfield 

Dr Nick Brown 

Professor James Brownjohn 

Professor John Bryant 

Professor Pawan Budhwar 

Dr Gilli Bush-Bailey 

Professor Chris Carr 

Mr K Puvana Chandra 

Professor Sylvia Chant 

Professor Howard Chase 

Dr Andrew Chester 

Professor Anthony S Clare 

Professor Jon Clare 

Dr Gerard Clarke 

Professor Ian Cluckie 

Professor Ian Colbeck 

Professor Susan Condor 

Professor Mark Conner 

Dr Gary Connett 

Professor Peter Cooper 

Professor Jon Cooper 

Professor Christopher 

Cramer 

Professor James Croll 

Professor Michael Crossley 

Professor Gregory Currie 

Professor Tom Curtis 

Professor Jeremy Dale 

Professor Jim Davis 

Professor Bob Deacon 

Professor I M Dharmadasa 

Professor Satnam Dlay 

Professor Christine Dodd 

Professor Allison Drew 

Professor Rosaleen Duffy 

Professor Garry Duthie 

Professor William Dutton 

Professor Tim Eden 

Professor Vincent C Emery 

Professor John Feather 

Professor Justin Fisher 

Professor Gillian Foulger 

Professor David Francis 

Professor Raymond Geuss 

Professor Alan Gilbert 

Professor Helen Gilbert 

Dr David Grace 

Dr Graham Green 

Professor John Greenlees 

Professor Anne Gregory 

Professor Gabriele Griffin 

Professor Sunetra Gupta 

Professor Olivier Hanotte 

Dr Stephen Harris 

Dr Mary Hayden 

Professor Peter Haynes 

Dr John Healey 

Professor Mark Hector 

Dr Sue Hill 

Professor David Hogg 

Professor Paul Horgan 

Ms Marie Therese Hosey 

Professor Christopher Howe 

Professor Stefan Hubscher 

Professor John Hudson 

Dr Susan Huson 

Professor Chris J Hutchison 

Dr Michael Johnson 

Professor John Kennedy 

Dr Christian Kennett 

Professor Kay-Tee Khaw 

Professor Ray Kiely 

Professor Mark Kilby 

Professor Michael King 

Dr Uma Kothari 

Dr Tomas Larsson 

Professor David Little 

Professor David Lomas 

Dr Alastair Lyndon 

Mr David Mabb 

Professor David Mabey 

Professor Robin Mansell 

Professor Trevor H J 

Marchand 

Professor Ursula Martin 

Professor Chris Mason 

Professor Robert 

McCorquodale 

Professor Martin McGinnity 

Professor Colin McInnes 

Professor Andy McKay 

Professor Graham M 

Megson 

Dr Tolib Mirzoev 

Professor Robert Mokaya 

Dr Cletus Moobela 

Dr Lindsey Moore 

Professor Glenn Morgan 

Professor Oliver Morrissey 

Professor John Morton 

Professor Paul Mosley 

Professor Colin A Murray 

Professor Fionn Murtagh 

Professor John Neoptolemos 

Professor Ian Netton 

Professor Katherine Newey 

Professor Alison Noble 

Dr Chris Norbury 

Professor Stephen Nortcliff 

Professor Polly O'Hanlon 

Dr Mark Odell 

Professor Emmanuel 

Ogbonna 

Professor Helen Osborn 

Professor Ronen Palan 

Professor Abdul Paliwala 

Professor Andrew Pendleton 

Professor John Preston 

Dr Gail Preston 

Professor Srinivasan 

Raghunathan 

Professor Carole Rakodi 

Professor David Ray 

Dr Simon Ray 

Professor Nanneke Redclift 

Professor Catherine 

Redgwell 

Professor James B 

Richardson 

Professor Suzanne Romaine 

Professor Robin Roslender 

Professor Harvey Rutt 

Professor Tom Sanders 

Professor Andrea Schaefer 

Professor Rod Scott 

Professor Caroline Series 

Professor Ian Shennan 

Dr Ayona Silva-Fletcher 

Professor Alastair Spence 

Professor Steven Spier 

Professor Mary Stiasny 

Professor Ian Stratford 

Professor Mark A Stuart 

Professor Colin Taylor 

Professor Mark Tewdwr-

Jones 

Professor Brian Thomas 

Professor Paul Thompson 

Professor Kenneth J 

Thomson 

Professor John Tribe 

Professor Mike Turner 

Professor Peter Tyrer 

Professor Shahzad Uddin 

Professor Pamela Vallely 

Professor Robin Wallace 

Professor Sam Wamuziri 

Professor Richard Ward 

Professor Jamie Weir 

Professor Andrew Wheatley 

Professor Nigel D White 

Professor John Whitehead 

Professor Jonathan M J 

Williams 

Professor Katherine Willis 

Professor Julian Wiseman 

Professor Ian Young 

Dr Bashar Zahawi  
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Aberystwyth University 

Aston University 

Bangor University 

Birmingham City University 

Cardiff University 

Cardiff Metropolitan University 

City University London 

Cranfield University 

Durham University 

Glasgow Caledonian University 

Harper Adams University 

Heriot-Watt University 

(limited number of Scholars) 

Imperial College London 

Keele University 

Kingston University 

Lancaster University 

(limited number of Scholars) 

Liverpool John Moores University 

Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine 

Loughborough University 

Manchester Metropolitan University 

Newcastle University 

Northumbria University 

(for PhD study only) 

Nottingham Trent University 

Queen Margaret University 

Queen’s University, Belfast 

Robert Gordon University 

Sheffield Hallam University 

Staffordshire University 

Swansea University 

Teesside University 

University of Aberdeen 

University of Bath 

University of Birmingham 

University of Bradford 

University of Bristol 

University of Cambridge/Cambridge 

Commonwealth Trust (CCT) 

University of Dundee 

University of East Anglia 

University of East London 

University of Edinburgh 

University of Essex 

University of Exeter 

University of Glasgow 

University of Greenwich 

University of Hull 

University of Kent 

University of Leeds 

University of Leicester 

University of Liverpool 

University of London 

Birkbeck, University of London 

Goldsmiths, University of London 

Institute of Commonwealth Studies 

Institute of Education 

King’s College London 

London School of Economics and 

Political Science 

London School of Hygiene and 

Tropical Medicine 

Queen Mary, University of London 

Royal Holloway, University of 

London 

Royal Veterinary College 

SOAS, University of London 

University College London 

University of Manchester 

University of Northampton 

University of Nottingham 

University of Oxford 

University of Portsmouth 

University of Reading 

University of Roehampton 

University of St Andrews 

University of Salford 

(limited number of Scholars) 

University of Sheffield 

University of Southampton 

University of Stirling 

University of Strathclyde 

University of Surrey 

University of Sussex 

(limited number of Scholars) 

University of the West of England 

(limited number of Scholars) 

University of Ulster 

University of Warwick 

University of Westminster 

(limited number of Scholars) 

University of Wolverhampton 

(limited number of Scholars) 

University of York 

Working with UK universities 

The CSC plays an important role in attracting the best and brightest talent to UK universities. In return, UK universities 

have always been keen to support and become involved in the CSC’s activities, through: 

 part funding Commonwealth Scholarships for developed Commonwealth country citizens 

 part funding Commonwealth Scholarships for developing Commonwealth country citizens through tuition fee contributions 

 providing funding for Commonwealth Shared Scholarships 

 hosting Commonwealth Academic Fellowships 

 partnering with overseas institutions to offer Commonwealth Split-site Scholarships and Commonwealth Distance 

Learning Scholarships 

The following universities currently have part funding agreements with the CSC for Commonwealth Scholarships for 

developing Commonwealth country citizens: 
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Governance statement 

The Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom (CSC) was established by Act of Parliament in 

1959 in order to manage the UK contribution to the Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship Plan (CSFP), launched 

by Commonwealth Education Ministers in 1958. Its status was subsequently reaffirmed in the International Development 

Act of 2002. 

The CSC is a non-departmental public body, for which the Department for International Development (DFID) is the lead 

department and main sponsor, focusing exclusively on awards that deliver on poverty reduction. However, other financial 

contributions have been received in recent years from the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, the Scottish 

Government, and the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, especially for awards to scholars from richer Commonwealth 

countries. The CSC is independent of Government in its decision-making and operations, and the Act of Parliament 

expressly forbids political interference in the selection of individual candidates for scholarships. The CSC submits an 

Annual Report on its work each year to the Secretary of State; this forms the basis of a report submitted by the Secretary 

of State to Parliament, to which (s)he is ultimately responsible for the work of the CSC. 

In addition to regulations provided in the 1959 Act (which have been confirmed in subsequent Development Acts) and 

subsequent Ministerial Directives, detailed governance arrangements for the CSC have been set out in a Memorandum 

of Understanding between the CSC and DFID. The current Memorandum covers the period to March 2014. This will be 

superseded by a Framework Document that will set out the CSC’s three-year corporate and one-year business plans. 

The DFID Internal Audit Department (IAD) provides the CSC’s internal audit function. The CSC’s annual income and 

expenditure are incorporated in the overall accounts of DFID, and the CSC account is held with the Government Banking 

Service. 

The Commission comprises 15 members, including the Chair, who are appointed in line with the principles of the Code 

of Practice for Ministerial Appointments to Public Bodies. Members are appointed by the Secretary of State for an initial 

period of three years, with the possibility of renewal for one further three-year appointment. The Executive Secretary of 

the Commission is the Accounting Officer for the CSC, with responsibility to the Secretary of State for its conduct and 

performance. It is expected that the Chair and other relevant officials will meet with relevant Ministers at least annually to 

discuss the work of the CSC. 

The full Commission meets three times per year. It is supported in its work by specialist committees, made up of 

Commissioners, which deal with Finance, Audit and Risk Management, Awards Policy, External Liaison, and Evaluation 

and Monitoring. Separate committees of Commissioners are convened to handle the selection of scholarship recipients. 

The CSC has no employees, contracting out its Secretariat and other management functions to two external bodies: the 

Association of Commonwealth Universities (ACU) and the British Council. The effectiveness and value for money of 

these arrangements are formally evaluated annually by the Finance Committee, which recommends appropriate action 

to the full Commission. The CSC operates an Evaluation and Monitoring Programme which provides evidence of the 

impact of its work, through interviews and surveys of alumni and other stakeholders. The results of this programme 

influence the CSC’s decision-making processes. 

The status of the CSC was subject to an independent assessment by DFID in 2013, as part of the Government’s rolling 

programme of triennial review of public bodies. This review reported in September 2013 that the functions carried out by 

the CSC are required and that the delivery model is appropriate and offers value for money. 
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Membership of the Commonwealth Scholarship 

Commission in the UK 

for the year ending 30 September 2013 

Professor Tim Unwin 

Chair 

Secretary General, Commonwealth Telecommunications 

Organisation, and Emeritus Professor of Geography and 

UNESCO Chair in ICT4D, Royal Holloway, University of 

London 

 

Professor Mark Cleary 

Deputy Chair 

Vice-Chancellor and Principal, University of Bradford 

 

Richard Burge 

Chief Executive of Wilton Park 

 

Anthony Cary CMG 

Former British High Commissioner to Canada and British 

Ambassador to Sweden 

 

Professor Lorna Casselton CBE, DSc, FRS 

Emeritus Professor of Fungal Genetics, Department of 

Plant Science, University of Oxford 

 

Professor Graham Furniss OBE, FBA 

Former Pro-Director (Research and Enterprise), SOAS, 

University of London 

 

Professor Christine Humfrey MBE 

Special Professor, University of Nottingham, Visiting 

Fellow, Edge Hill University, and independent consultant 

in international higher education 

 

Professor Nyovani Madise 

Professor of Demography and Social Statistics and 

Associate Dean (Research and Enterprise), Faculty of 

Social and Human Sciences, University of Southampton 

Kathy Mansfield 

Project Director, ZIMRA Assistance Programme 

(ZIMRAP); former Senior Governance Advisor, DFID 

 

Richard Middleton 

Interim Registrar, City University London 

 

Professor Jeff Waage OBE  

Director, London International Development Centre 

 

Professor Ros Wade 

Director, Education for Sustainability Programme, and 

Associate Director, Centre for Cross Curricular Initiatives, 

London South Bank University 

 

Professor Jonathan Wastling 

Head, Department of Infection Biology, Institute of 

Infection and Global Health, University of Liverpool 

 

Officers 
 

Dr John Kirkland 

Executive Secretary 

 

Dr Jonathan Jenkins 

Director of Operations 
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Statement of income and expenditure 

for the year ended 31 March 2013 

2012/2013 (£000)  2011/2012 (£000)    

     

DFID Grant-in-aid 20,550  DFID Grant-in-aid 18,918 

BIS Grant-in-aid 400  BIS Grant-in-aid 400 

FCO Grant-in-aid 0  FCO Grant-in-aid 175 

Scottish Government Grant-in-aid 90  Scottish Government Grant-in-aid 50 

Total Grant-in-aid to CSC 21,040  Total Grant-in-aid to CSC 19,543 

     

CSC Administrative Expenditure 2,112  CSC Administrative Expenditure 2,099 

CSC Programme Expenditure 19,011  CSC Programme Expenditure 16,678 

Total CSC Expenditure 21,123  Total CSC Expenditure 18,777 

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 475  Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,532 

Increase in Trade Payables (558)  Trade Payables (766) 

Total 21,040  Total 19,543 

     

CSC Administrative Expenditure   CSC Administrative Expenditure  

Commission Costs via ACU 131  Commission Costs via ACU 109 

ACU Management Fees 905  ACU Management Fees 1,002 

BC Management Fees 599  BC Management Fees 656 

VAT plus Reorganisation costs 477  VAT 332 

Total 2,112  Total 2,099 

     

DFID Programme Expenditure   DFID Programme Expenditure  

Scholarships   Scholarships  

PhD research 7,456  PhD research 7,101 

Agency Master's 3,048  Agency Master's 2,429 

Split-site PhD 803  Split-site PhD 646 

Shared Scholarships 3,063  Shared Scholarships 2,505 

Distance Learning 2,163  Distance Learning 1,627 

Events 43  Events 2 

Total 16,576  Total 14,310 

Fellowships   Fellowships  

Academic 691  Academic 715 

Professional 848  Professional 847 

Total 1,539  Total 1,562 

DFID Award Expenditure 18,115  DFID Award Expenditure 15,872 

     

Other Programme Expenditure   Other Programme Expenditure  

Evaluation 180  Evaluation 128 

External Liaison 237  External Liaison 197 

VAT 62  VAT 4 

Total 479  Total 329 

     

Programme Expenditure   Programme Expenditure  

DFID Grant-in-aid (total) 18,594  DFID Grant-in-aid (total) 16,201 

BIS Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 359  BIS Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 351 

FCO Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 10  FCO Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 102 

Scottish Government Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 48  Scottish Government Grant-in-aid (PhD research) 24 

Programme Expenditure (Total) 19,011  Programme Expenditure (Total) 16,678 

     

Total 21,123  Total 18,777 
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Notes 

1. These figures were consolidated in DFID's audited Annual Report and Accounts 2012-13. 

2. The CSC also engaged independent auditors to inspect the statement that the CSC submitted to DFID. This work 

found no material exceptions to what was expected. 

3. This activity is managed by the Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in the United Kingdom. 

4. In 2012/2013, funds from BIS, FCO, and Scottish Government were channelled through DFID, in line with government 

practice. 

5. The CSC holds no fixed assets. 

6. The CSC employs no staff. 

7. The cost of administration, before adding VAT and restructuring costs, was 7.7% in 2012/2013, down from 9.4% in 

2011/2012. 

8. Having no VATable outputs, the CSC is not registered for VAT so cannot reclaim VAT on any of its inputs. 

Administration and irrecoverable 
VAT

10%

PhD research
37%

Agency Master's
15%

Split-site PhD
4%

Shared Scholarships
15%

Distance Learning
10%

Fellow ships
7%

Evaluation and External Liaison
2%

2012/2013

Administration and irrecoverable 
VAT

11%

PhD research
40%

Agency Master's
13%

Split-site PhD
4%

Shared Scholarships
13%

Distance Learning
9%

Fellow ships
8%

Evaluation and External Liaison
2%

2011/2012
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Woburn House 

20-24 Tavistock Square 

London WC1H 9HF 

United Kingdom 

T    +44 (0)20 7380 6700 

F    +44 (0)20 7387 2655 

www.dfid.gov.uk/cscuk 

info@cscuk.org.uk 


